1994

Larry Patterson v. Utah County Board of Adjustment : Brief of Appellants

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to §78-2a-3(2), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.

- (2) The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction, including jurisdiction of interlocutory appeals, over:
 - (a) the final orders and decrees resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings of state agencies or appeals from the district court review of informal adjudicative proceedings of the agencies, except the Public Service Commission, State Tax Commission, Board of State Lands, Board of Oil, Gas, and Mining, and the state engineer;
 - (b) appeals from the district court review of:
 - (i) adjudicative proceedings of agencies of political subdivisions of the state or other local agencies;....

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The following issue is presented for review:

1. Was the Utah County Board of Adjustment's decision to grant Appellants' request for constructing a private airport

adequately supported by substantial evidence.

The standard of review is set out in U.C.A. §§17-27-708(2),

(6) (1953, as amended):

(2) In the petition, the plaintiff may only allege that the board of adjustment's decision was arbitrary, capricious, or illegal.

(6) The court shall affirm the decision of the board of adjustment **if the decision is supported by substantial evidence in the record.** (emphasis added)

The Utah Court of Appeals should affirm the Utah County Board of Adjustment's decision granting Appellants' application if it finds that there is substantial evidence to support the Board's decision. "Substantial evidence" is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. Johnson v. Dept. of Emp. Security, 782 P.2d 965 at 968 (Ut. Ct. App. 1989).

In an appeal from the District Court's judgment after review of the administrative agency's decision, the Court of Appeals reviews the decision as if the appeal had come directly from the agency and there is no presumption of correctness of the District Court decision, since its review is no more advantageous than that of the Court of Appeals. Kline By and Through Kline v. Utah Dept. of Health, 776 P.2d 57, at 60 (Ut. Ct. App 1989). See also Vali Convalescent and Care Institutions v. Division of Health Care Financing, 797 P.2d 438 (Ut. Ct. App. 1990); Matter of License of Topik, 761 P.2d 32 (Ut. Ct. App. 1988), cert. denied 773 P.2d 45 (1989); Weber Memorial Care Center, Inc. v. Utah Dept. of Health, Div. of Health Care Financing, 751 P.2d 831 (Ut. Ct. App. 1988),

cert. denied 765 P.2d 1278 (1988); Technomedical Labs, Inc. v. Utah Securities Div., 744 P.2d 320 (Ut. Ct. App. 1987).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about February 15, 1991, Defendants-Appellants GLENN B. SMITH, MARIANNE M. SMITH, W. GREG BUTTARS AND LESLIE E. BUTTARS filed Appeal #1030 with the Utah County Board of Adjustments (hereinafter "Board") requesting an appeal for special exceptions to build an airstrip for private use in Cedar Valley, Utah County.

On March 5, 1991, the Board met to decide upon the above request, and after duly considering all relevant safety concerns, granted Appellants' application for special exception to build an airstrip. (T 42, 47) The Board's trained zoning personnel specifically considered the existence of other airport facilities in proximity to the requested airstrip. (T 1-3, 6-10) (R 119-124) The Board concluded that granting the application would not result in the creation of any hazard to other aircraft or people engaged in flying activities in the area.

Plaintiff-Appellee, LARRY PATTERSON, owns and operates the Cedar Valley Airport for commercial purposes, located near the proposed airport. Appellee objected to the Board's decision and filed a Complaint in the Fourth District Court on April 3, 1991. (R 14) The District Court filed a Memorandum Decision on April 20, 1993, and reversed the Board's decision. (R 139-142) The District Court found that the Board acted in an "arbitrary, capricious, and illegal manner in granting Defendants-Appellants SMITH and BUTTARS' application for a special exception to the Zoning Ordinance of Utah

County." (R 142)

Appellee did not have a permit to operate his airport and was in violation of the law at the time Appellants' application was approved by the Board. (R 160-162) Subsequently, Appellants' proposed private airstrip has been analyzed and approved by the Federal Aviation Administration (hereinafter "FAA") as not posing any hazard or safety concerns whatsoever. (R 224-228) The FAA specifically considered the nearby existence of the Cedar Valley Airport in its safety determination and concluded that Appellants' airport will not adversely affect the safe and efficient use of Appellee's airport.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Board is an administrative body which has specialized knowledge to make zoning decisions and such decisions should be given due deference by the reviewing court. The Board thoughtfully considered all of the relevant facts relating to Appeal #1030, including all pertinent safety issues presented at its March 5, 1991, meeting. The Board's decision to approve the appeal is substantially supported by the transcript for the March 5, 1991, meeting.

The reviewing court is only empowered to judge whether the Board's decision is supported by substantial evidence in the record, and cannot substitute its own judgment by undertaking an independent inquiry regarding already established facts. Since the record substantially supports the Board's decision, this Court should affirm the Board's decision.

Appellee did not have a valid license to operate his airport and was operating it illegally in violation of the law at the time of the Board's decision. As such, Appellee cannot challenge the Board's decision and Appellee's claim for airspace is subordinate to Appellants' senior claim.

ARGUMENTS

POINT I

**THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE BOARD'S DECISION,
AND THE BOARD'S DECISION CANNOT BE CHARACTERIZED AS ARBITRARY,
CAPRICIOUS OR ILLEGAL UNDER THE RELEVANT ZONING ORDINANCE.**

A court reviewing the decision of a Board of Adjustment is required to give considerable deference to the Board's interpretation and application of the zoning ordinances. The Supreme Court of Utah has recognized this in validating the importance of deferring to the administrative bodies charged with zoning related powers. In Naylor v. Salt Lake City Corp., the Utah Supreme Court stated:

We recognize, and reiterate, the proposition that courts of law cannot substitute their judgment in the area of zoning regulations for that of a city's governing body. Also, we are more than cognizant of the proposition that the governing body of a city is endowed with considerable latitude in determining the proper uses of property within its confines. 398 P.2d 27, at 29 (Utah 1965).

The Utah Supreme Court reiterated this deference in Cottonwood Heights Citizens Association v. Bd. of Comm'n of Salt Lake County, where the Court said:

In addressing the plaintiff's attack upon the judgment, there are certain rules to be considered. Due to the complexity of factors involved in the matter of zoning, as in other fields where courts review the actions of administrative bodies, it should be assumed that those charged with that responsibility (the Commission) have

specialized knowledge in that field. Accordingly, they should be allowed a comparatively wide latitude of discretion; and their actions endowed with a presumption of correctness and validity which the courts should not interfere with unless it is shown that there is no reasonable basis to justify the action taken. 593 P.2d 133, at 141 (Utah 1979).

From the above, it is obvious that a court reviewing a decision of a Board of Adjustment must give "wide latitude" to the discretion of that Board. While deferring to the Board's "specialized knowledge," the court must determine if the "substantial evidence" requirement of U.C.A. §17-27-708(6) is met. If the "substantial evidence" requirement is met, the court "shall affirm the decision of the Board."

A. The Transcript of the Board's Meeting on March 5, 1991, to Decide Upon Appellants' Application Contains Substantial Evidence to Support the Board's Decision.

In the District Court's Memorandum Decision in this case, the court's two (2) principal concerns were the potential danger posed by the planes using the Cedar Valley Airport and the close proximity of Lake Mountain. A careful review of the transcript from the Board's meeting establishes that there is substantial evidence that the Board thoughtfully addressed the safety issues of the airstrip in making its determination that Appellants' proposal did not pose any safety concerns.

The Zoning Administrator's Office of Utah County prepared and submitted a report to the Utah County Board of Adjustment for review and consideration at the meeting held on March 5, 1991, to act on the application of "Smith & Buttars" for a "special exception" to build an airport. (R 169) The report contained a

thorough "analysis" consisting of nine (9) numbered paragraphs, a section outlining all pertinent ordinances and a recommendation. The report also contained an aerial map and a plot plan. (R 119, 121)

Buck Rose, a trained planner from the Zoning Administrator's staff found that the power lines in the area would not pose a safety problem for the airstrip. (T 2) Mr. Rose also stated:

I found that the other airport was far enough away, there is an airport in Cedar Valley, so I do not see a conflict between the two. And certainly the degree of flying in both these airports would be very small, and this one [the proposed airstrip] would be very small indeed...
(T 3)

Mr. GLENN SMITH answered the Board's inquiries as to the potential danger posed by other aircraft in the airspace near the proposed airstrip by telling the Board that the altitude of aircraft in the area of the proposed airstrip approaching the Salt Lake City Airport, was probably "6,000 or 7,000 feet above ground level" (T 9), while "our pattern in operation would be less than 1,000, but the average pattern height at that point would be about 1,000 feet." (T 10) Mr. SMITH further noted that he, like the pilots of planes that fly into the Salt Lake City Airport, was aware of the jump site to the west of the Cedar Valley Airport and that his operation would be in the same valley and safer than the person "who is unfamiliar with the area who is just flying through." (T 19)

Mrs. MARIANNE SMITH, addressing the issue of air safety with regard to other planes, explained that they would communicate by radio with other planes and probably with the proposed airstrip.

(T 20) Finally, Mr. GREG BUTTARS, confirming Mr. Rose's observation that there would be little traffic using the proposed strip, stated that there would only be about two (2) flights per month or possibly one (1) per week. (T 27)

When Appellee, Mr. PATTERSON, applied to the Board for approval of his Cedar Valley Airport, in June of 1991, his business license for the airport had expired. (R 172) The Board granted approval for his airport, subject to the following condition:

That the operation of Mr. Patterson's airport not interfere with the turning patterns or landing patterns of the **previously approved** Smith airport. (emphasis added) (R 154)

As to any risk Lake Mountain might pose to the operation of the airstrip, Mr. Rose forewarned the Board that if they believed that the airstrip was unsafe, they should not vote for it.

I believe that in your approval, you've got to consider the safety design of the airport. If you feel that it's unsafe because there's a mountain there, if safety is a general commission of special exceptions, in fact 7-21-C-1. If you feel the design is unsafe regardless of this other issue, I believe you've got to not vote for it, but if you feel that it is safe, even though the mountain is there, then you should. (T 6)

Mr. SMITH detailed for the Board the FAA approved and recommended traffic pattern which he would use at the airstrip. (T 11-13) Mr. SMITH also demonstrated how the approved pattern would apply to the proposed airstrip. Id. When Mr. Carlile questioned, "Is there any situation where it would be necessary to be turning toward the mountain?" Mr. SMITH responded:

I don't think so. I can't think of any because it's kind of like having one hundred and eighty degrees to work in

and not a narrow path or one quarter of space, which is not unusual in your bush type or private airstrips out on farms. (T 13)

To further emphasize the importance of safety, the Board, in its motion to approve the special exception, prudently included the condition that "if any building or structure is constructed which intrudes in the elevations of the approach zone, turning zone or transition zone," approval would be rescinded.

The above-cited references are part of the evidence contained in the transcript upon which the Board based its decision. This evidence proves that the Board's decision was not arbitrary and capricious. On the contrary, the Board carefully analyzed an exhaustive list of possible safety concerns and found that the airport proposal still qualified for approval. Not only did the Board take into consideration all existing safety concerns, the Board's approval was also cognizant of prospective safety concerns as well, as evidenced by the stipulated condition.

According to American Jurisprudence, "Evidence is substantial if a conclusion of a trier of the facts can be reasonably based upon it." 83 Am Jur 2d Zoning §1062. Furthermore, "substantial evidence" is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. Johnson v. Dept. of Emp. Security, 782 P.2d 965 at 968 (Ut. Ct. App. 1989).

The Utah Code sets forth the standard of review in cases of this kind.

(1) Any person adversely affected by any decision of a board of adjustment may petition the district court for a review of the decision.

(2) In the petition, the plaintiff may only allege that the Board of Adjustment's decision was arbitrary, capricious, or illegal.

(3) The petition is barred unless it is filed within 30 days after the Board of Adjustment's decision is final.

(4)(a) The Board of Adjustment shall transmit to the reviewing court the record of its proceedings including its minutes, findings, orders and, if available, a true and correct transcript of its proceedings.

(b) If the proceeding was tape recorded, a transcript of that tape recording is a true and correct transcript for purposes of this subsection.

(5)(a)(i) If there is a record, the district court's review is limited to the record provided by the board of adjustment.

(ii) The court may not accept or consider any evidence outside the Board of Adjustment's record unless that evidence was offered to the Board of Adjustment and the court determines that it was improperly excluded by the Board of Adjustment.

(b) If there is no record, the court may call witnesses and take evidence.

(6) The court shall affirm the decision of the Board of Adjustment if the decision is supported by substantial evidence in the record. (Utah Code Annotated, §17-27-708)

In light of the above-cited references, the cumulative evidence that was presented before the Board and upon which the Board reasonably based its decision to approve Appeal #1030, was substantial, and this Court should affirm the Board's decision.

B. The Board's Decision is Further Validated by the FAA'S Approval of the Proposed Airstrip, and Cannot be Characterized as Arbitrary or Capricious.

Subsequent to the Board's decision to approve Appellants' application, Appellants also received an approval from the FAA. (R 150, 151) The letter clearly states that "the Federal Aviation

Administration (FAA) has no objection to the proposal, it will not adversely affect the safe and efficient use of airspace by aircraft..." (R 151)

The letter specifically referred to the existing Cedar Valley Airport and stated that "In making this determination, the FAA has considered matters such as the effect the proposal would have on the existing or planned traffic patterns of neighboring airports, the effects it would have on the existing airspace structure and projected programs of the FAA,..." (R 151)

Therefore, the Board's decision can hardly be characterized as arbitrary or capricious since it is supported by experts in the field of aviation.

POINT II

THE REVIEWING COURT CANNOT SUBSTITUTE ITS JUDGMENT FOR THAT OF THE BOARD WHEN THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE BOARD'S DECISION

In Xanthos v. Bd. of Adjustment of Salt Lake City, plaintiff appealed a Board of Adjustment's denial of his variance. The Utah Supreme Court stated "that the role of the district court in reviewing the Board of Adjustment's decision is to determine whether the action was so unreasonable as to be arbitrary and capricious." 685 P.2d 1032, at 1034-1035 (Utah 1984). The Utah Supreme Court also declared:

The district court undertook to weigh anew the underlying factual consideration. While there may have been some evidence in the record to support the trial judge's findings, it was not his prerogative to weigh the evidence anew. His role was limited to determining whether there was evidence in the record to support the Board of Adjustment's action. The judge went beyond this role and decided the case according to his notion of what

was in the best interests of the citizens of Salt Lake City...However, it does not matter whether the judge agrees or disagrees with the rationale of the Board or the policy grounds upon which a decision is based. It does not lie within the prerogative of the trial court to substitute its judgment for that of the Board where the record discloses a reasonable basis for the Board's decision. Id. (emphasis added).

Although the Xanthos action dealt with a city Board of Adjustment, the rationale is also applicable to appeals from a county Board of Adjustment.

The Utah Supreme Court's rationale in Xanthos is supported by other authorities. Among the requirements for judicial review of zoning decisions enumerated by the Kansas Court of Appeals is the following:

(5) A court may not substitute its judgment for that of the administrative body, and should not declare the action unreasonable unless clearly compelled to do so by the evidence. Martin Marietta Aggregates v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs, 625 P.2d 516, at 525 (Kan. App. 1980).

The Oregon Court of Appeals declared:

Our review, then, is of the Commission's order, including the findings and conclusions supporting it. If those findings are supported by the evidence from the record on which the Commission relied, and the conclusions are supported by those findings, we may not disturb the order solely because we might reach a different conclusion. Haviland v. Land Conservation and Dev. Comm'n, 609 P.2d 423, at 425 (Or. App. 1980).

Finally, American Jurisprudence confirms:

While a court reviewing a decision of a Board of Adjustment may not substitute its judgment for that of the board, it will examine the records upon which the Board's decision is based to determine whether the findings of the Board are supported by substantial evidence. 83 Am Jur 2d Zoning §1062.

The District Court's determination that the Board acted in an illegal manner in violation of Utah County Ordinance §3-34 is

clearly a substitution of its own judgment for that of the Board.

§3-34 reads as follows:

It is the intent of this section to avoid or lessen hazards from the operation of aircraft, to avoid creation of new hazards, and to protect the lives of people who use aircraft facilities. Utah County Ordinance §3-34.

Not only is there substantial evidence in the record to support the Board's decision which alone should have precluded such a determination by the District Court, there is clear evidence that the Board considered the safety issues in-depth and came to the reasoned conclusion that there would be no hazards from granting the proposed airport. As in Xanthos:

The record in this case clearly reflects that the Board of Adjustment's action was not arbitrary or capricious and that there was a reasonable basis in evidence to justify it. 685 P.2d at 1035.

As such, the Court of Appeals should confirm the Board's decision on the basis of substantial evidence in the record.

POINT III

APPELLEE DID NOT HAVE A PERMIT TO OPERATE HIS AIRPORT AND WAS IN VIOLATION OF THE LAW AT THE TIME APPELLANTS' APPEAL WAS GRANTED BY THE BOARD. THEREFORE, APPELLEE'S CLAIM TO AIRSPACE FOR HIS AIRPORT IS SUBJECT TO APPELLANTS SMITH AND BUTTARS' CLAIM AS THEY WERE FIRST IN TIME TO OBTAIN APPROVAL FROM THE BOARD

On April 23, 1991, Appellee was cited for operating Cedar Valley Airport without a license in violation of Utah County ordinance. (R 172) As a result of his non-compliance, Appellee was required to receive approval for his airport from the Board before he could obtain a new business license. (R 165)

Appellants SMITH and BUTTARS obtained approval for their airstrip from the Board on March 5, 1991. The Board filed its

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