1994

Larry Patterson v. Utah County Board of Adjustment : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Utah Court of Appeals should affirm the decision of the Fourth District Court's reversal of the Board's approval of airstrip applicants' request to allow an airstrip approximately one mile from an existing airport. The Board's approval of the proposed airstrip is arbitrary, capricious and illegal and the Board's approval is unsupported by substantial evidence in the record for the following reasons:

1. Approval of the proposed airport/landing strip presents an inherently unsafe condition which violates the intent of Utah County Zoning Ordinance 3-34:

It is the intent of this section to avoid or lessen hazards resulting from the operation of aircraft, to avoid creation of new hazards, and to protect the lives of people who use aircraft facilities. [Emphasis added.]

2. Approval of the proposed airstrip violates the two-mile turning radius requirement of Utah County Zoning Ordinance Sec. 3-34. This requirement requires a two-mile turning radius from the each of a landing strip. With two airstrips in close proximity, each landing strip requires a two-mile turning radius. Thus, to comply with the ordinance, the proposed airstrip should not have been allowed to be located less than four miles from the existing landing strip. Approval of the proposed airstrip also violates the approach and transition zone requirements of 3-34 because they overlap and converge with the approach and turning approach zones of the existing Cedar Valley Airport.

3. The Board failed to meet three of six specific standards as prerequisites to approving any special exception (such

as construction of an airport) pursuant to Utah County Ordinance 7-21, relative to the promotion of the public health, safety and welfare, compatibility with the public interest and with the characteristics of the surrounding area, and adverse effect on local property values. The Board arbitrarily interpreted the word "promote" to connote "does not diminish" public safety, health or welfare.

4. The Board's decision was based upon incomplete and inaccurate information submitted by the airstrip applicants. Only unsubstantiated and general information regarding the use or activity of the Cedar Valley Airport was presented to the Board. Although the airstrip applicants contacted a nearby homeowner about the proposed airstrip, they did not contact the owner of the nearby airport relative to their airstrip proposal. The existing airport owner had no knowledge of the hearing.

5. The Board admits in the hearing transcript that it had never before approved an airstrip. None of the Board members professed any knowledge of flying or airport safety.

Although there may be substantial information in the record, the Board's decision is not supported by substantial evidence of specific information in the record relative to the activities and dangers of the two airstrips operating in close proximity.

ARGUMENT

I. BY APPROVING AN AIRSTRIP APPROXIMATELY ONE MILE FROM AN EXISTING AIRPORT, THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT INTENTIONALLY AND ARBITRARILY VIOLATED SEVERAL OF THE COUNTY'S ZONING RULES AND STANDARDS PROMULGATED TO PROMOTE PUBLIC SAFETY.

A. The Board Violated County Requirements Regulating the Intent and Use Restrictions for Airports and Airport Safety.

The Board was referred to Utah County Ordinance 3-34 regarding approval of airports. The intent of this specific section for airports follows:

It is the intent of this section to avoid or lessen hazards resulting from the operation of aircraft, to avoid creation of new hazards, and to protect the lives of people who use aircraft facilities. (R.64) [Emphasis added.]

By approving an airstrip approximately one mile from an existing airport, without consideration of any supporting facts or information as to the use and activity of the existing airport: the Board has increased the hazards resulting from the operation of aircraft; it has created new hazards; and its action does not protect, but jeopardizes, the lives of people who use aircraft facilities in Cedar Valley, Utah. This Court should rule that the record does not substantially support a finding that the Board complied with the intent of Section 3-34.

Section 3-34 defines the following terms:

1. Airport Approach Zone

An area at each end of an airport landing strip or take-off strip, broadening from a width of one thousand (1,000) feet at the end of the strip to a width of four thousand (4,000) feet at the distance of seven thousand five hundred (7,500) feet from the end of such strip, its centerline being a continuation of the centerline of the

strip;

2. Airport Transition Zone

A triangular area adjacent to each side of an airport approach zone located with reference thereto as follows: One corner of said transition zone shall be identical with the corner of the approach zone nearest to the landing strip; a second corner shall be located at the end of a line, said line extending from the end of the landing strip to a point one thousand five hundred fifty (1,550) feet from the cornerline of said landing strip and at right angles thereto; a third corner shall be located at a point along said approach zone boundary line, which point is seven thousand five hundred (7,500) feet distance from the first corner above-mentioned;

3. Airport Turning Zone

A circular area surrounding an airport encompassing all of the land lying within a radius of two (2) miles distance from the landing strip of a airport, except that area covered by the airport, the transition zones, and the approach zone.

The applicants presented a diagram of the two-mile turning radius and turning and approach zones with their application. (R.105) The Planner's report discussed the approach zones required and possible interference by land obstructions. (R.123-124) The Board questioned whether the location at the base of Lake Mountain interferes inappropriately with the two-mile radius requirement and the answer was "I don't know." (T.4-5) The applicant indicated he didn't need a two-mile radius and he offered justification why pilots might use only one side of an airstrip. (T.12)

However, the applicants' diagram of the proposed airstrip does not show that the entire, existing Cedar Valley airstrip falls within this two-mile radius. Nor does it show that the proposed

airstrip's northern approach zone and transition zone intersect with the Cedar Valley airstrip, or that the proposed airstrip's northern approach and transition zones converge with the southern approach and transition zones of the Cedar Valley airstrip. (R.66) The record does not include any evidence that the Board took into consideration the hazards posed by intersecting or overlapping transition zones, approach zones, or the two-mile turning radius. (R.66)

The airport "Use Restrictions" of Section 3-34 follow:

Notwithstanding any other provision of this ordinance, no uses may be made of land within Utah County which will: create electrical interference with radio communication between airports and aircraft; make it difficult for flyers to distinguish between airport lights and others; result in glare in the eyes of flyers using the airport; impair visibility in the vicinity of an airport; or endanger the landing or taking off of aircraft. [Emphasis added.]

The Planner's introduction, support and conclusion of "evidence" to the Board regarding the "safety" or lack of hazard or danger caused by the airplanes using the Cedar Valley Airport in close proximity to the proposed airstrip are apparently contained in his statement to the Board:

I found that the other airport was far enough away, there is an airport in Cedar Valley, so I do not see a conflict between the two. (T.3) [Emphasis added.]

The Planner's report does not even cite to Cedar Valley Airport or its flight activity. The Planner only indicates that "[t]he landing strip is in accord with the low-intensity use of the surrounding area, which does not have other buildings but is used for livestock grazing." (R.123) [Emphasis added.] A

contradictory statement from the applicant which does not appear to be taken into consideration by the Board relative to its consideration of any safety issue is his description of activity at Cedar Valley Airport "when they're doing their parachute thing on weekends they're just constantly up and down."¹⁴ (T.27) [Emphasis added.] The Planner's report cites to "extensive use" anticipated by the airstrip applicants, but does not relate it to the extensive use of the Cedar Valley Airport. (R.124)

- B. The Board Arbitrarily Redefined the Word "Promote" [Public Safety] by Ratifying Its Interpretation to Connote "Not to Diminish."

Utah County Ordinance Section 7-21 sets out the "Rules for Hearings and Deciding Appeals for Special Exceptions."

When the Board of Adjustment acts under its power to hear and decide requests for special exceptions [which include airports], the Board shall comply with all of the following rules and standards:

- A. The appellant shall have submitted a properly completed application for hearing.
* * *
- C. The following standards shall be met as a prerequisite to approving any special exception:
1. It shall promote the public health, safety and welfare.
 2. It shall conform to the "characteristics and purposes stated for the zoning district involved and the adopted county master plan.
 3. It shall be compatible with the public interest and with the characteristics of the surrounding area.
 4. It shall not adversely affect local property values.
 5. Any standards ... which apply to a specific special exception shall be met: 3-34.
- * * *

¹⁴ The Cedar Valley Airport is open year-round with a full time manager living on site nine months of the year. Parachuting activity, as well as other flying activities, are not limited to weekends.

[Emphasis added.]

There was quite a discussion on whether or not the Board had to find that approval of the proposed airstrip must promote the public health, safety and welfare. (T.32-38) The language of the ordinance is clear and unambiguous, "The Board shall comply with all the following rules and standards. The following standards shall be met as a prerequisite to approving any special exception," the first of which is that it "shall promote the public health, safety and welfare."

The airstrip applicants responded to the question regarding this prerequisite in their application with, "Provides for emergency landing for aircraft in distress and staging for disaster operations." (R.112) When questioned by the Board at the hearing as to the meaning of the response, applicant presented a rather far-fetched disaster-assistance rationale after he admitted, "Frankly, I didn't have a very long list of how good this was for the public." (T.14) With the assistance of counsel, the Board finally decided they could interpret the word "promote" to mean "does not diminish" public health, safety or welfare. (T.36-38)

Promote means to contribute to growth, enlargement, or prosperity of; to forward; to further; to encourage to advance. Black's Law Dictionary 1093 (5th ed. 1979) The Board didn't think it could comply with the language of the ordinance as it stood, so it changed the meaning of it.

Although one Board member didn't agree that the proposed airstrip conformed with the mining and agriculture use, the Board

determined that this standard had been met. (T.32-33)

The Board found that the proposed airstrip was compatible with the public interest and with the characteristics of the surrounding area. However, it looked only to the surrounding land use of farming and grazing, rather than the land and air use of the nearby existing airport. The record does not substantially support that the Board considered all relevant factors in making this "compatibility" determination.

Finally, the Planner mentioned a business relationship the existing airport had with Camp Williams and the possible future of that relationship. (T.3) However, there is no evidence in the record that the Board considered any effect the proposed airstrip might have on the property values of the Cedar Valley Airport.

The Board incorrectly took upon itself to redefine the work promote. Statutory construction is a judicial function required when a statute is invoked and different interpretations are in contention. Statutory construction on which the Board's experience and expertise will be of no assistance should be reviewed as a question of law with no deference to the Board. Zissi v. State Tax Comm'r, 842 P.2d 848 (Utah 1992).

- C. No Deference Should Be Given by the Reviewing Court to the Board's Decision Because the Board Lacks Any Knowledge or Previous Experience in Approving an Airstrip.

A correction of error standard could be applied to the Board's approval of the proposed airstrip because the Board had never before approved an airstrip or professed to any flying or airport experience.

As the Utah Court of Appeals noted, in Taylor v. Utah State Training School, 775 P.2d 432, 433 (Utah Ct. App. 1989):

The more likely it is that agency expertise will assist in resolving an issue, the more deference courts should give to the agency's resolution. The less pertinent agency insight is - or the more likely it is that judicial expertise will be most helpful - the less deference need be paid by reviewing courts to the agency's disposition.

Taylor, 775 P.2d at 434 ("no substantial expertise in the area of personnel management, nor had the Board considered the matter before." Id.).

The Board had no "expertise, gleaned from its first-hand experience with the subject matter." Bennett v. Industrial Comm'n, 726 P.2d 427, 429 (Utah 1986). The Board was not in a "superior position by virtue of its expertise" to reach the finding it did, in clear contravention of its own ordinances. Big K Corp. v. Public Serv. Comm'n, 689 P.2d 1349 (Utah 1984). The Court should take into account the Board's lack of "expertise developed from its practical, firsthand, experience with the subject matter." Chris & Dicks v. Tax Comm'n, 791 P.2 511 (Utah 1990).

Even with an intermediate standard of review applied to a mixed question of law and fact, the Court can review the Board's "interpretation with only moderate deference." Allen v. Depart. of Employment Security, 781 P.2d 888, 890 (Utah App. 1989), citing Hurley v. Board of Review, 767 P.2d 524, 527 (Utah 1988). Davis Co. v. Clearfield City, 756 P.2d 707, 710 & n. 8 (Utah Ct. App. 1988) (city's reasons for denying conditional use permit were without factual basis in record and therefore city acted

arbitrarily and capriciously in denying conditional use permit).
Xanthos v. Board of Adjustment, 685 P.2d 1032 (Utah 1984).

Vali Convalescent and Care Institutions v. Division of Health Care Financing, 797 P.2 438 (Utah App. 1990). Whether the Board violated its own standards and rules is a questions of law. The court need not accord any particular deference to the decisions below but review them for legal correctness. Id. at 444, citing Hurley v. Board of Review, 767 P.2d 524, 526-27 (Utah 1988) and Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985) (trial court decision).

The approval of an airstrip is a matter involving an hazardous activity, a matter of grave public safety. The Board's finding was not supported by "substantial evidence" because the Board was presented with only limited, unspecific, incorrect and self-serving information from the airstrip applicants. No information regarding the airstrip's true distance from the existing airport was presented to the Board. Misinformation as to the actual activity of the existing airport (between 13,000 and 28,000 take-offs and landings annually, one of the top ten busiest airports in the State of Utah) was presented to the Board. Generally, safety issues were considered independently of each airstrip. No input from the owner of the airport which has been in existence for fifty years was requested or received by the Board. Grace Drilling Co. v. Board of Review, 776 P.2d 63 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

The agency also changed the meaning of Ordinance 7-21 by

determining that the verb "promote" when used with public health, safety and welfare could be interpreted to mean "does not diminish." The Board's determination of general law, is to be reviewed giving no deference to the agency's decision, but reviewed for correctness. Utah Dept. of Admin. Serv. v. Public Serv. Comm'n, 658 P.2d 601 (Utah 1983).

The Board violated not one or two, but perhaps three or four of its standards, rules and prerequisites.

II.

THE FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION DID NOT "VALIDATE" THE BOARD'S DECISION BECAUSE IT DOES NOT WAIVE THE REQUIREMENTS OF ANY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY AND BECAUSE IT REQUIRES ONLY NOTIFICATION OF A PRIVATE LANDING AREA.

Airstrip applicants present an impressive Federal pre-emption argument in their brief to this court. However, when asked by the Board at the hearing if there were any requirement or necessity of approaching the FAA or Air Authority to receive approval for the proposed airstrip, the applicant sang a different tune:

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